#### SUPREME COURT NO. S243975

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

HENRY ARSENIO LARA II, Defendant and Petitioner.

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 2 1 2018

Court of Appeal

No. E065029 Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Superior Court -No. INF1302723

Deputy

#### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF RIVERSIDE COUNTY

Judge Samuel Diaz Jr. Presiding

## PETITIONER LARA'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

## APPELLATE DEFENDERS, INC.

Neil Auwarter Staff Attorney State Bar No. 109576

555 West Beech Street, Suite 300

San Diego, CA 92101 Bus: (619) 696-0282

Fax: (619) 696-7789

E-mail: nfa@adi-sandiego.com

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

Petitioner Henry Lara was charged by felony information on January 5, 2015 with: count 1, driving and taking a vehicle with intent to deprive the owner (Veh. Code, § 10851, subd. (a)), with a prior felony conviction for felony theft and unlawful receiving (Pen. Code, § 666.5, subd. (a)); and count 2, receiving a stolen vehicle (§ 496d, subd. (a)), with a prior conviction for receiving stolen property (§ 666.5, subd. (a)). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise stated.

information further alleged one prior felony strike (§ 667, subds. (b)-(e)) and four prior prison terms (§ 667.5, subd. (b)). (1 CT pp. 69-71.)

A jury found appellant guilty of count one and acquitted on count two. (1 CT pp. 193-194.) The verdict on count one found petitioner guilty of "driving a vehicle without permission . . ." (1 CT p. 193.) In a bench trial the court found all of the alleged priors true. (1 CT p. 196.)

At sentencing on December 14, 2015 the court imposed an aggregate prison term of 10 years, consisting of the 3-year middle term for the Vehicle Code section 10851 violation, doubled to 6 years under the Strikes Law, plus four 1-year prior prison term enhancements. (1 CT p. 288.)

Petitioner appealed, arguing among other things that his offense was a misdemeanor theft within the meaning of recently enacted section 490.2, which petitioner argued applied to him because his conviction was not final on the effective date of Proposition 47. (Slip Opn. E065029, p. 2.) The Court of Appeal affirmed the conviction, with the majority concluding Proposition 47 did not apply to a violation of Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a) and that such offense is not a "theft" within the meaning of section 490.2. (Slip Opn., pp. 3-7.) The court also rejected petitioner's claim Equal Protection mandated Proposition 47 be applied to violations of Vehicle Code section 10851. (Slip Opn. pp. 8-10.) Concurring in the

result, Justice Slough opined that a Vehicle Code section 10851 violation based on unlawfully taking a vehicle amounts to a theft under section 490.2; however, based on a review of the evidence the concurrence found petitioner was convicted not of taking, but of post-theft driving.

Accordingly, the concurrence found petitioner's offense was not a theft within the meaning of section 490.2. (Slip Opn., concurrence, pp. 1-4.)

Petitioner petitioned for review, and this court granted review, but ordered briefing deferred pending its decision in *People v. Page* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1175. Then on March 21, 2018 this court issued an order directing briefing of the following question: "Does Penal Code section 490.2, added by Proposition 47, effective November 5, 2014, apply directly (i.e., without a petition under Penal Code section 1170.18) in trial and sentencing proceedings held after Proposition 47's effective date, where the charged offense was allegedly committed before Proposition 47's effective date?"

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Jessica Rivera testified her 2000 Honda Civic went missing from where she had parked it in August of 2013. (RT pp. 102-103.) A police officer testified that approximately two days later he saw appellant driving Rivera's vehicle. (RT pp. 66-67.) The officer followed the vehicle, and

appellant pulled over. (RT pp. 84-85.) The car had a broken window, and the ignition had been manipulated to start with keys that did not match the car. (RT pp. 90-94.)

#### ARGUMENT

PENAL CODE SECTION 490.2, ENACTED BY PROPOSITION 47, IS DIRECTLY APPLICABLE TO PETITIONER PURSUANT TO THE RETROACTIVITY PRESUMPTION OF *IN RE ESTRADA* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740 BECAUSE THE PROPOSITION'S PETITION PROCESS SET OUT IN PENAL CODE SECTION 1170.18 IS EXPRESSLY INAPPLICABLE TO PETITIONER.

#### A. Summary of argument

Proposition 47 ("The Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act") became effective November 5, 2014. Proposition 47 includes section 490.2, designating any theft of \$950 or less as a misdemeanor. And in *People v. Page* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1175, this court held that a Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a), conviction based on taking a vehicle of \$950 or less is a misdemeanor "theft" within the meaning of section 490.2. *Page* further clarified that driving a vehicle to steal it amounts to theft under section 490.2, while driving a vehicle after the theft is complete is not theft under section 490.2.

Petitioner's case was based on an incident occurring in 2013. But it was not until 2015 that he was charged by information, convicted by a jury, and sentenced to a felony prison term for the offense.

Proposition 47's designation, in section 490.2, of any theft of \$950 or less as a misdemeanor applies directly to petitioner. A statutory enactment ameliorating the punishment for a crime is presumptively applicable to any defendant whose case is not final on the effective date of the legislation. (In re Estrada, supra, 63 Cal.2d 740, 744-745.) A legislative "savings clause" may rebut this presumption by stating the change is not retroactive. Alternatively, the legislation may expressly provide for retroactive application, but impose limits on retroactivity. For example, this court has previously held that the petition provisions in both Proposition 36 and Proposition 47 preclude direct retroactive application of the ameliorative changes to persons who may petition under those provisions. As to those persons, retroactive application must be accomplished through the petition process prescribed in sections 1170.126 and 1170.18, respectively. And retroactive application for such petitioners is subject to the limits provided by those sections. (People v. Conley (2016) 63 Cal.4th 646 [Proposition 36]; People v. Dehoyos (2018) 4 Cal.5th 594 [Proposition 47].)

Petitioner, however, is not a person who may petition for Proposition 47 relief through the petition process. That is because section 1170.18 is express in permitting petitions by either a person who was serving their sentence for the affected conviction on November 5, 2014 (1170.18, subd. (a)) or who has already completed their sentence (1170.18, subd. (f)). Petitioner is neither—because he was sentenced after November 5, 2014 and has not completed his sentence.

Since petitioner is not a person subject to the limited retroactively provisions in the petition process set out in section 1170.18, he is entitled to the direct retroactive benefit of section 490.2. This result is compelled by the normal presumption of retroactivity absent a savings clause, by the unmistakable intent of the drafters and voters that Proposition 47 be retroactive and broadly construed, and by the fact it would violate Equal Protection to extend ameliorative relief to those convicted of the identical act before and after petitioner, but deny the same relief to him.

Petitioner's conviction must be reduced to a misdemeanor because the jury's verdict below establishes no more than a misdemeanor theft.

While the verdict states petitioner drove a vehicle, it does not specify whether he drove to steal the vehicle, or instead drove after the theft was complete. Nor did the jury find the vehicle's value exceeded \$950.

Consequently, the verdict does not establish the act was a non-theft, i.e., a felony.

No retrial is permitted on the question of whether petitioner committed a felony act of driving separate from the taking of the vehicle. The prosecution's failure to secure a more specific jury verdict forfeited a retrial, and a retrial would violate petitioner's right to be free from double jeopardy.

# B. General rules governing retroactivity of statutes reducing criminal punishment

Where the Legislature or electorate<sup>2</sup> enacts legislation reducing the punishment for an offense, it may expressly state whether and to what extent the amendment is to be applied retroactively. (*People v. Conley* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 646, 656; *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740, 744.) Such a statute may include a "savings clause" precluding retroactive application. (*Conley, supra*, at p. 656; *Estrada supra*, at p. 747.) Where an ameliorative amendment lacks a savings clause, it is presumed the drafters intended the ameliorative change apply to any defendant whose case was not final on the effective date of the enactment. (*Conley*, at p. 656; *Estrada*, at pp. 744-745.) Explaining this presumption of legislative intent, this court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Principals of statutory construction are equally applicable whether a statute is enacted by the Legislature or by the electorate through the initiative process. (*People v. Morales* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 399, 409.)

in *Estrada* stated that when the Legislature determines a lesser punishment suffices for a criminal act, there is ordinarily no reason to continue imposing the more severe penalty, beyond simply "'satisfy[ing] a desire for vengeance.'" (*Id.* at p. 745.) Further, this court reasoned, the drafters of an ameliorative statute "must have intended that the new statute imposing the new lighter penalty now deemed to be sufficient should apply to every case to which it constitutionally could apply," including defendants whose cases were not final on the statute's effective date. (*Ibid.*) "Final" for the purpose of the *Estrada* rule means at the expiration of the appeal period. (*Id.* at pp. 747-748; *People v. Robbins* (2018) 19 Cal. App. 5th 660, 678.)

Recently this court has addressed instances in which the drafters of an ameliorative statute created express retroactivity provisions including procedural and substantive limitations. This court found those express provisions may effectively trump the *Estrada* presumption as to defendants subject to the express provision. In such instances, a defendant's right to retroactive relief is limited by the terms of the express retroactivity provision—even where the defendant's conviction was non-final on the statute's effective date.

So, for example, in *People v. Conley*, *supra*, this court addressed whether third strike defendants who were sentenced before the effective

date of Proposition 36 (the Three Strikes Reform Act of 2012), but whose judgments were not yet final on that date, were entitled to direct retroactive treatment or were instead required to utilize the petition process set out in section 1170.126, the act's express retroactivity provision (Conley, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 652.) The question was consequential since section 1170.126 imposed procedural and substantive limits not applicable to a defendant entitled to direct ameliorative treatment–notably, a petitioning defendant was subject to denial of relief based on the trial court's discretionary finding resentencing would pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety. (§ 1170.126, subds, (f), (g).) In Conley this court held that a defendant seeking reduction of a Three Strikes sentence-including a defendant whose sentence was not final on the Act's effective date—was required to use the petition process set out in section 1170.126. (Id. at p. 652.) This court explained that the defendant was a person described by the language of the act's retroactivity provision, i.e., a "person[] presently serving an indeterminate term of imprisonment pursuant to [the Three Strikes Law] . . . ." (*Id.* at p. 655, citing section 1170.126, subd. (a).) Accordingly, this court held that the usual Estrada presumption was rebutted as to such defendants because the Three Strikes Reform Act was not silent on the subject of retroactivity, but instead created an express

retroactivity provision with limits reflecting the drafters' and voters' public safety concerns. (*Id.* at pp. 657-659.)

In People v. Dehoyos (2018) 4 Cal.5th 594, this court confronted an analogous question in construing Proposition 47: Whether defendants serving felony sentences on the measure's effective date, but whose judgments were on appeal and thus not yet final, are entitled to automatic resentencing under Proposition 47, or must they instead seek relief through the Proposition's resentencing procedure set out in section 1170.18. (People v. Dehoyos, 4 Cal. 5th at p. 597.) This court's analysis began with a review of Proposition 47, which reduced several formerly felony offenses to misdemeanors. (Ibid.) Like Proposition 36, Proposition 47 includes an express retroactivity provision prescribing a petition process for seeking retroactive relief. Specifically, under section 1170.18, subdivision (a), persons who on November 5, 2014 were serving a sentence for an affected offense may petition for reduction of the offense; and under section 1170.18, subdivision (f), persons who have completed serving their sentence for an affected offense may petition for re-designation of the offense. Section 1170.18 is inapplicable to persons previously convicted of certain enumerated serious offenses. (§ 1170.18, subd. (i).) An additional limit is that a defendant petitioning under subdivision (a) will be denied

relief where the trial court determines the new sentence would be an "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety." (§ 1170.18, subd. (b).) Subdivision (c) of the statute, in turn, defines "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" as an unreasonable risk the petitioner will commit a new "violent felony" within the meaning of section 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(iv). Largely following it analysis in *People v. Conley*, this court concluded in *Dehoyos* that Proposition 47's express provision of a petition process for retroactive relief, with evident concern regarding public safety. rebutted the Estrada presumption of direct and automatic retroactivity as to persons subject to the petition provisions. (Dehovos, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 600-603.) The court found nothing in the language or history of Proposition 47 to indicate the language of section 1170.18, subdivision (a), "serving a sentence," was intended to apply only to those serving final sentences. (Dehoyos, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 603-604.) Accordingly, this court held any person serving a sentence for an affected offense on the effective date of Proposition 47 was required to seek relief through the petition process set out in section 1170.18, subdivision (a). (Dehoyos, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 600-603.)

C. Section 490.2 is directly applicable to defendants sentenced after the effective date of Proposition 47; the *Estrada* presumption applies to such defendants because they are excluded from the petition process set out in section 1170.18, subdivisions (a) and (f), which apply only to persons serving their sentence on the act's effective date or who have completed their sentence.

Section 1170.18 authorizes a petition for retroactive relief by two groups of defendants: Section 1170.18, subdivision (a), authorizes a petition by "[a] person who, on November 5, 2014, was serving a sentence for [an offense reduced by the act]." And section 1170.18, subdivision (f) authorizes a petition by ""[a] person who has completed his or her sentence for [an offense reduced by the act]."

The original version of section 1170.18, subdivision (a) authorized a petition by "[a] person *currently* serving a sentence for [a reduced offense]." (Italics added.) But effective January 1, 2017 the Legislature deleted the term "currently" and substituted the language specifying that the petitioner must have been serving his or her sentence on November 5, 2014. While petitioner has found no legislative history addressing this particular change, it appears the Legislature sought to eliminate ambiguity over whether "currently" referred to the date Proposition 47 became effective or instead to the date the petition is filed. In fact, at least one decision rendered prior to the above-mentioned amendment construed "currently" in the latter manner, i.e., to refer to the date of the petition: In *People v. Mutter* 

(2016) 1 Cal.App.5th 429, a defendant who was sentenced in January 2015, two months after the effective date of Proposition 47, petitioned for relief under section 1170.18, subdivision (a). The trial court denied the petition on the ground the offense was not reducible. On appeal, the Court of Appeal requested briefing on an additional, procedural, question: whether the defendant's claim was properly addressed through the section 1170.18 petition process, or whether he was instead entitled to direct retroactive relief under *Estrada*. (*Id.* at pp. 436-437, citing *People v. Floyd* (2002) 31 Cal.4th 179, 184, which in turn cited *Estrada*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d at p. 744.) Noting that the defendant was serving his sentence at the time of his petition, the court in *Mutter* concluded the defendant had properly proceeded through the petition process under section 1170.18, subdivision (a). (*Ibid.*)

But as previously noted, after *Mutter* the Legislature amended section 1170.18, subdivision (a), by substituting "on November 5, 2014" for "currently." The amendment was permitted by the provision in Proposition 47 permitting amendment by the Legislature.<sup>3</sup> This amendment clarified

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Proposition 47 permits the Legislature to amend the measure in a manner consistent with the act: "SEC. 15. Amendment. This act shall be broadly construed to accomplish its purposes. The provisions of this measure may be amended by a two-thirds vote of the members of each house of the Legislature and signed by the Governor so long as the amendments are consistent with and further the intent of this act. The

that subdivision (a) applies only to persons serving their sentence on the Proposition's effective date. It necessarily follows that the group of persons consigned to the petition process under subdivision (a) excludes those sentenced *after* November 5, 2014.

From this it is evident that petitioner, who was not sentenced until after November 5, 2014, falls outside the scope of section 1170.18, subdivision (a). Likewise, he is outside the scope of section 1170.18, subdivision (f) because he is currently serving his 10-year prison term, and so is not a person "who has completed his or her sentence." Accordingly, the question before this court is identical to that posed by the court in *Mutter*, *supra*: Is a defendant sentenced after the Proposition's effective date properly brought within the petition process under section 1170.18; or is he instead entitled to direct ameliorative relief under *Estrada*? The statutory amendment to subdivision (a), discussed above, now generates the

Legislature may by majority vote amend, add, or repeal provisions to further reduce the penalties for any of the offenses addressed by this act." (Prop 47, approved Nov. 4, 2014, eff. Nov. 5, 2014.) Such amendment by the Legislature is permitted by the California Constitution, Article II, section 10, subdivision (c) and by the statutory language in section 15, quoted *ante*. The amendment was enacted by more than a two-thirds majority: 30-9 in the Senate and 58-19 in the Assembly. (https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billVotesClient.xhtml?bill\_id=2015 20160AB2765)

opposite answer from that given in *Mutter*. Specifically, a person such as petitioner, who was sentenced after November 5, 2014, and who has not completed his or her sentence, cannot petition for relief under either subdivisions (a) or (f) of section 1170.18. It follows that the Proposition's petition provision does not rebut the *Estrada* presumption as to such persons. Such persons are therefore entitled to direct ameliorative relief under Proposition 47. And in petitioner's case the particular applicable provision of the Proposition is section 490.2, designating as a misdemeanor any theft of \$950 or less.

Petitioner's position is in accord with the conclusion reached by Judge Couzens and Justice Bigelow in their treatise on Proposition 47, in which they state at page 12:

If the crime was committed prior to November 5, 2014, but sentenced after that date, the new sentencing rules will apply to the case. This means that all persons charged with qualified crimes that have not been convicted or sentenced as of November 5 will be entitled to misdemeanor treatment without the need to request any kind of a resentencing under section 1170.18. The procedures authorized by section 1170.18 clearly apply only to persons either serving a sentence or who have completed a sentence—circumstances not applicable to persons who have not even been sentenced.

(www.courts.ca.gov/documents/Prop.47-Information.pdf, rev. 5/17.)

Petitioner's claim should prevail on the strength of the foregoing analysis alone. But it is further compelled by the fact a contrary

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