In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

HENRY ARSENIO LARA II,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S243975 FILED

JUL 1 9 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E065029 Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. INF1302723 The Honorable Samuel Diaz, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
JULIE L. GARLAND
Senior Assistant Attorney General
MICHAEL PULOS
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
STACY TYLER
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 216355
600 West Broadway, Suite 1800
San Diego, CA 92101
P.O. Box 85266

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

In *Tapia*, the defendant committed his crimes before the effective date of Proposition 115, the Crime Victims Justice Reform Act, and his trial was pending when the initiative took effect. This Court had to resolve the question of whether provisions of Proposition 115 applied to prosecutions of crimes committed before the proposition's effective date. (*Tapia*, at

p. 286.) The Court answered the question in the affirmative for the provisions that made criminal conduct less culpable, such as those adding the element of intent to kill to crimes that previously required no such intent. (*Tapia*, *supra*, 53 Cal.3d at pp. 300-301.)

The *Tapia* court stated, "'[W]hen the Legislature amends a statute so as to lessen the punishment it has obviously expressly determined that its former penalty was too severe and that a lighter punishment is proper as punishment for the commission of the prohibited act' and "sufficient to meet the legitimate ends of the criminal law." (*Id.* at p. 301, quoting *Estrada*, *supra*, 62 Cal.2d at p. 745, and *People v. Oliver* (1956) 1 N.Y.2d 152.) The Court pointed out that it had "applied the same reasoning to statutes which redefine, to the benefit of defendants, conduct subject to criminal sanctions." (*Tapia*, at p. 301, citing *People v. Rossi* (1976) 18 Cal.3d 295 (*Rossi*).) "These authorities," the Court held, "compel the conclusion that . . . [provisions benefiting criminal defendants] may be applied to pending cases." (*Tapia*, at p. 301.)

Similarly, in *People v. Wright* (2006) 40 Cal.4th 81, 85-86 (*Wright*), the Compassionate Use Act of 1996 (the CUA) provided no affirmative defense to transporting marijuana when defendant committed the crime in 2001. (*Id.*, at p. 84, citing Health & Saf. Code, § 11362.5.) Before defendant's case was final, however, the Legislature enacted the Medical Marijuana Program (the MMP) (Health & Saf. Code, § 11362.7 et seq.), which provided an affirmative defense to that crime. (*Wright*, at p. 85, citing Health & Saf. Code, § 11362.765.) This Court held that the MMP applied to cases pending at the time of its passage, even for crimes committed before the effective date of that act. (*Wright*, at pp. 94-95.) Citing *Rossi* and *Estrada*, the Court said, "This authority makes clear that [the MMP] may be applied retroactively to provide, if its terms and the

applicable facts permit, a defense to appellant." (Wright, at p. 95, quoting People v. Trippet (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 1532, 1545.)

Here, Proposition 47, by means of Penal Code section 490.2, redefined grand theft to exclude the theft of any property valued at \$950 or less. Under *Tapia* and *Wright*, this ameliorative change applies automatically to trial and sentencing proceedings held after Proposition 47's effective date, even where the charged offense was committed before the proposition's effective date.

That conclusion is consistent with this Court's recent decision in *Dehoyos*. The question in *Dehoyos* was whether Proposition 47's ameliorative provisions applied directly to persons *already serving sentences* for their crimes. (*Dehoyos, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 597, 600.)

Because Proposition 47 provided a specific avenue for relief in those circumstances—petitioning for recall of the sentence under section 1170.18, subdivision (a)—this Court determined that the Legislature intended that to be the only avenue for relief for those defendants. (*Id.* at pp. 597, 603.) Proposition 47 makes no such provision for defendants who, before the effective date of Proposition 47, committed a crime subsequently reduced to a misdemeanor by the proposition, and who are tried or sentenced after the proposition's effective date. Therefore, section 490.2 applies automatically to such defendants; they need not petition for relief under section 1170.18.

II. PENAL CODE SECTION 490.2 HAS NO APPLICATION TO THIS CASE BECAUSE SECTION 490.2 APPLIES ONLY TO THEFT CRIMES, AND THE RECORD IN THIS CASE CONCLUSIVELY ESTABLISHES APPELLANT WAS NOT CONVICTED OF THEFT

The answer to the question in the preceding section has no bearing on the outcome of this case because Penal Code section 490.2 does not apply here. Section 490.2 applies only to theft offenses. Whereas car theft under Vehicle Code section 10851 is a theft offense; unlawful driving under that section is not. Appellant was convicted only of unlawful driving under section 10851.

Penal Code section 490.2 provides, "Notwithstanding [Penal Code]
Section 487 or any other provision of law defining grand theft, obtaining any property by theft where the value of the money, labor, real or personal property taken does not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars (\$950) shall be considered petty theft and shall be punished as a misdemeanor" (Pen. Code, § 490.2, subd. (a).) "Theft . . . requires a taking with intent to steal the property—that is, the intent to permanently deprive the owner of its possession." (*Page*, *supra*, 3 Cal. 5th at p. 1182.) But "Vehicle Code section 10851 punishes not only taking a vehicle, but also driving it without the owner's consent, and "with intent *either* to permanently *or temporarily* deprive the owner thereof of his or her title to or possession of the vehicle, whether with or without intent to steal the vehicle." (*Id.* at p. 1182, quoting Veh. Code, § 10851, subd. (a), italics in original.)

In *People v. Garza* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 866, 871 (*Garza*), this Court held, "'Unlawfully taking a vehicle with the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession is a form of theft On the other hand, unlawful driving of a vehicle is not a form of theft when the driving occurs or continues after the theft is complete." (*Page, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1183, quoting *Garza*, at p. 871.) "The same is true when a defendant acted with intent only to deprive the owner temporarily of possession. Regardless of whether the defendant drove or took the vehicle, he did not commit auto theft if he lacked the intent to steal." (*Page*, at p. 1183.)

In *Page*, the Court held that Penal Code section 490.2 applies to the theft form, but not the unlawful driving form, of Vehicle Code section 10851. (*Page*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1183.) Thus, where the 10851 conviction is based on post-theft driving (i.e., "driving a vehicle without the owner's consent after the vehicle has been stolen") *or* on a taking without

the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession, section 490.2 does not apply. (*Id.* at p. 1188.)

Here, the record conclusively establishes appellant was convicted of and punished for post-theft driving, and not vehicle theft.² (See conc. opn. of Slough, J., at p. 1.) Although the information initially charged appellant with "willfully and unlawfully driv[ing] and tak[ing]" a car (1 CT 69-70, italics added), the People effectively abandoned the taking allegation and proceeded at trial on only a post-theft driving theory. (See *People v. Lopez* (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 1508, 1532-1533 ["When a crime can be committed in more than one way, it is standard practice to allege in the conjunctive that it was committed every way[,]" but "[s]uch allegations do not require the prosecutor to prove that the defendant committed the crime

² Citing People v. Gallardo (2017) 4 Cal.5th 120 (Gallardo), appellant asserts that this court cannot look at the evidence presented to the jury to elucidate the jury's verdict. (OBM 31-36.) Gallardo does not support appellant's assertion. In Gallardo, this Court held that a sentencing court could not impose a prior-conviction enhancement "based on its independent conclusions about what facts or conduct 'realistically' supported the [prior] conviction," but must limit its inquiry to "identify[ing] those facts it is 'sure the jury . . . found' in rendering the guilty verdict." (Gallardo, supra, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 135-136.) Even assuming Gallardo applies in the present context, the issue here involves a determination of the latter, not the former. Moreover, Gallardo permits an examination of "the record of conviction," which includes at a minimum the charging document and jury instructions, to determine the "facts . . . necessarily found by [the] jury." (Id. at pp. 124, 129, 137-138.) The record of conviction would also include the verdict form. (See People v. Trujillo (2006) 40 Cal.4th 165, 177 [record of conviction is composed of those documents that reliably reflect facts of offense of which defendant was convicted].) The instructions and verdict form in this case conclusively establish that appellant was convicted of unlawful driving, and he was not found to have acted with the intent to permanently deprive the vehicle's owner of the car. Therefore, even were this Court (and the Court of Appeal) limited to only the record of conviction, that record still shows appellant was convicted only of unlawfully driving a vehicle, and not vehicle theft.

in more than one way."]; *People v. Knowlden* (1985) 171 Cal.App.3d 1052, 1058 [when a prosecutor does not provide evidence or argument on a particular offense, it may be considered "impliedly abandoned," such that instructions on that offense would make little sense].)

Indeed, the evidence adduced at trial showed only a post-theft driving by appellant: The car was stolen on August 8 or 9, 2013. Five or six days later, it was spotted, damaged and missing its parts, in a place where car thieves frequently dump cars after stealing and looting them. The next day—six or seven days after the theft—appellant was seen driving the car.

In accordance with this evidence, the jury was instructed only on unlawful driving:

The defendant is charged in Count 1 with unlawfully driving a vehicle in violation of Vehicle Code section 10851.

To prove that the defendant is guilty of this crime, the People must prove that:

1. The defendant *drove* someone else's vehicle without the owner's consent;

AND

When the defendant did so, he intended to deprive the owner of possession or ownership of the vehicle for any period of time.

(1 CT 181, italics added; RT 140.)

Furthermore, the prosecutor's argument to the jury was also limited to post-theft driving:

So let's go through Count 1 first. . . . This requires that I prove to you that the defendant *drove* a vehicle without the owner's consent, and that's real easy. . . . [¶][The owner] didn't given him or anybody else permission to have it. So when he's *driving* that car, he was *driving* it without [the owner's] consent.

The second element, is that when he *drove* that vehicle, he had the intent to deprive the owner . . . of possession of the vehicle *for any period of time*.

[W]e know it's not his. He doesn't know [the owner]. He's *driving* it around. Keeping it at this du[m]ping ground for stolen cars. He knew it was stolen. He knew that he was depriving the owner, whoever that person was, of possession of the vehicle.

(RT 143-145, italics added.)

In fact, the prosecutor expressly told the jury not to worry about resolving the question of who stole the car, but to just focus on whether appellant unlawfully drove it after it was stolen:

The question in this case is not who stole the car originally. The question is not who took it to the mobile home park. Did the defendant take it? Maybe. Maybe he did. Right?

He's driving it a few days after it's stolen He's keeping it at this dumping ground for stolen cars, which is only a few blocks away from his house. His house is only a few blocks away from [the owner's] house. Did he take it? Maybe. We don't know. But that's okay that we don't know because that's not the question here. . . .

The question[s] that you have to answer are was he *driving* it without the owner's consent, and when he was *driving* it did he know—did he have the intent to deprive [the owner] of the car? Did he know it was stolen? The answer to both of those questions—to all of those questions is yes, beyond any reasonable doubt.

(RT 149, italics added.)

Finally, when the jury found appellant guilty as charged in count 1, the verdict form read:

We, the jury in the above-entitled action, find the defendant, HENRY ARSENIO LARA, II, GUILTY of a violation of section 10851, subdivision (a) of the Vehicle Code, DRIVING A VEHICLE WITHOUT PERMISSION, as charged under count 1 of the information.

(1 CT 193; RT 180.)

The record thus conclusively establishes that appellant was convicted of post-theft driving, and that the jury did not find he intended to permanently deprive the car's owner of her property, as would have been required for a theft conviction. Accordingly, Penal Code section 490.2 does not apply to this case, and its automatic application to trial and sentencing proceedings held after Proposition 47's effective date is of no import here.

Appellant points out that theft of a vehicle may be accomplished by driving the car away. (OBM 37-38.) Quite so; that is the usual case. Citing *Page* and *Garza*, however, he then asserts that driving a vehicle without permission is always a theft unless it occurs after the taking. (OBM 37.) Therefore, he contends, the jury's verdict "leaves open possibility they found petitioner stole the vehicle." (OBM 37.)

There are two problems with appellant's argument. First, it misconstrues *Page* and *Garza*; those cases hold that a taking by driving without the intent to permanently deprive the owner is not a theft, nor is a driving that occurs some time after the taking, even if in the latter scenario the intent is to permanently deprive. (*Page*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at pp. 1182-1183; *Garza*, *supra*, 35 Cal.4th at pp. 871, 876-878.)

Second, the verdict here leaves no possibility but that the jury convicted appellant of unlawful driving. Again, the evidence showed only a post-theft driving, the prosecutor argued only a post-theft driving, the instructions were limited to unlawful driving and did not require the jury to find the intent to permanently deprive, and the jury found only an unlawful driving and did not find an intent to permanently deprive. Therefore, the jury's verdict leaves no room for doubt that it convicted appellant of post-theft driving, and not theft, of the vehicle. To the extent appellant suggests the jury may have harbored the belief that appellant also stole the car, in addition to driving it long after the theft was complete, that is irrelevant;

what matters is what the jury actually convicted appellant of, and as set forth above, the record is clear the jury convicted appellant of post-theft driving.

III. BECAUSE THE JURY CONVICTED APPELLANT OF UNLAWFUL DRIVING, NOT VEHICLE THEFT, THIS COURT NEED NOT RESOLVE THE SPLIT OF AUTHORITY REGARDING THE PROPER REMEDY IN THOSE CASES IN WHICH THE JURY MAY HAVE CONVICTED THE DEFENDANT OF THE THEFT FORM OF VEHICLE CODE SECTION 10851 WITHOUT DETERMINING THE VALUE OF THE STOLEN CAR

In his opening brief on the merits, appellant asserts remand is not permitted for the error he urges occurred in this case—namely, that the jury was not made to declare upon which of the two forms of Vehicle Code section10851 (unlawful driving or vehicle theft) it based its verdict, and, had it been the theft form, to further decide the value of the stolen property. (OBM 17-40.) Irrespective of the potential merits of appellant's assertion regarding the availability of remand in the abstract, it is irrelevant here because no error of the type appellant urges occurred. As discussed above, the verdict in this case was based on unlawful driving, and there was therefore no error of the type appellant urges. In any event, any error would be instructional in nature and harmless, or, alternatively, subject to remand.

A. Any Error Would Be Instructional and Harmless

While harmlessness analysis and remedy are not at issue in this case because there is no error, any putative error would be instructional; that is, the problem would be that the prosecution proceeded on a theft theory (or both a theft and a driving theory), and the court failed to properly instruct with the elements of theft as modified by Penal Code section 490.2. Such instructional error is subject to harmless error analysis. (See *People v. Merritt* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 819, 824-831; *People v. Chiu* (2014) 59 Cal.4th,

155, 167.) Here, the error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the evidence showed a post-theft driving, not a theft; the People only argued a driving, not a theft; and the jury expressly found appellant committed unlawful driving, and not vehicle theft. (See *Garza*, *supra*, 35 Cal.4th at p. 872 ["when . . . the evidence is such that it is not reasonably probable that a properly instructed jury would have found that the defendant took the vehicle but did not engage in any posttheft driving, a reviewing court may construe the Vehicle Code section 10851(a) conviction as a conviction for posttheft driving"].)

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